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Se ptemb e r 1 9 , 1988 

The Honorable Carl Levin 
Chairman, Subcommittee on 

oversight of Government Management 
Committee on Governmental Affairs 
United States Senate 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

This is in response to your letter dated June 24, 1988, 
asking u~ t o answer a series of questions regarding how our 
Office handles bid protests filed by potential subcon­
tractors on government procurements. 

As you know, we currently decide bid protests pursua~t. to 
the Competition in Contracting Act of 1984 (CICA), 31 
u.s.c. SS 3551-3556 (Supp. IV 1986). Under our Bid Protest 
Regulations, whicn implement CICA, we review only those sub­
contractor protests which concern subcontracts "by or for 
the government," 4 C.F'.R. S 21.3(m ) (10) (1988). As we 
explain below, at this time we do not favor expansion of 
our current jurisdiction over subcontractor protests. 

Our detailed responses to your questions follow. 

Did GAO deny subcontractors standing to file bid 
protests as a matter of policy, or does GAO 
believe that this decision was compelled by the 
language of the Competition in Contracting Act? 
What was the basis for this decision? 

In our view, the language of CICA compelled the current 
limitation on our consideration of subcontractor protests. 
CICA authorizes us to consider protests of "federal agency" 
procurements filed by interested par t ies, 31 U.S.C. S 3552, 
and defines an interested party as "an 3ctual or prospective 
bidder or offerer whose direct economic interest would be 
affected by the award of the contract or failure to award 
the contract." 31 U.S.C. § 3551(2 ) . Since contract awa~ds 
by prime contractor s generally are not federal agency pro­
curements and since a subcontractor is not "an actual or 
pr ospec tive bidde r o r offere r," we no longer consider many 
subcontractor protests which we reviP.wed prior to CICA. See 
PolyCon Corp., 64 Comp. Gen. 523 (1985), 85-1 CPD 1 567: 
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Ocean Enterpr i ses , Ltd . , 65 Comp . Gen . 585 ( 1986) , 86-1 CPD 
11 479 , affirmed , 65 Comp . Gen. 683 ( 198 6 ) , 86 - 2 CFO ,1 10 . 
We conti nue to cons ide r subcontcactor p rotests which 
concern s ubcont t:act s "by or fo r the go1•ernrnent ," however, 
because in t hose l imited s ituations t ~e pr ime contractor 
acts as an ag en t o f the governme nt, a war ding con tracts o n 
the government ' s behalf . 

The GAO regu l ation s tates that subcontractor 
protests may be enter tained "where the sub­
contract i s by or for the government ." Does this 
exception cover a case i n which government 
approval is required for a subcontract and the 
government wi thholds approval? How many cases 
have been filed under this provision and how many 
cases have been accepted by GAO? What types of 
cases were involved? 

A subcontract is considered t o be by or for the government 
where the c ircumstances are such that the prime contractor 
essentially is acting as a middleman or conduit between the 
government and the subcont ractor. American Nuclear Corp . . , 
B-228028, t.'lov . 23, 1987, 87-2 CPD 11 503. Such circumstances 
may ex i st where t he prime contractor operates and manages a 
government facility, Westinghouse Electric Corp., B-227091, 
Aug. 10 , 1987, 87 -2 CPD 11 14 5, otherwise provides large­
scale management ser v i ces, Union Natural Gas Co., B-224607, 
Jan . 9, 1987, 87-1 CPD t 44, serves as an a9ency's con­
struction manage r, Bryant Organization , Inc., B-228204.2, 
Jan . 7, 1988, 88-1 CPD t 10, or functions primarily to 
handle the administrative procedures of subcontracting with 
vendors effectively se lected by the agency. University o f 
Michigan, et al., B- 225756 , et al., June 30, 1987, 66 Comp . 
Gen. , 87-1 CPD ,i 643. A requirement for government 
approval of a subcont r act , s tanding a lone, does not make a 
subcontract award by or for the government. 

Of the approx i mately 8,000 pr otests filed during the 3-year 
period from January 1985 , when CICA took effect, thr ough 
January 1988, we received a ppr oximately 60 subcontra c t or 
protests . Of those , approximately 45 were dismissed because 
they did not concern subcontracts by or for the government. 
Those cases generally can be classified into fou r types: 
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1. Prospective subcontractors pr otesti ng the 
terms of the government 's prim~ sol icitation. 

2. Prospective subcontractors disappointed at not 
being selected by the prime contractor . 
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3. Prosp ive s ubcontracto r s pr o t es ting th 
contrac in g ncy ' s award o r fa ilure o award the 
prim on r ct . 

4. Pr os ctive subcontrac to r s pr ote s t i ng the 
ward or fa il ure t o award a subcontract by a 

second or third tier subcontractor. 

Appro xi mately 15 protests involved subcontracts by or for 
the government. We ~ustained tw0 of those protests, 
University of Michi..9.~--1 , et al., B-225756, et al., sul9s' 
and Westinghouse El~~tr1c Corp., B-227091, Aug. 10, 7, 
87-2 CP D ,i 145. 

How many subcor.tractor bid protests prior to CICA 
did GAO consider on an annual basis? How many of 
these resulted in relief to the protester? What 
issues were raised in these ~retests? What 
restrictions, if a~y, were placed on GAO's 
acceptance of these protests, beyond the 
restrictions for prime contractor protests? 

We received approximately 94 subcontractor protests from 
1980 through 1984, or an average of 18 such protests per 
year during this period. Prior to CICA, we generall, 
reviewed subcontractor protests under the following 
circumsta nces described in Optimum Systems, Inc., 54 Comp. 
Gen. 767 ( 1975), 75-1 CPD ,i 166: 

1. Where the prime contractor is acting as a 
purchasing agent of the government. 

2. Where the government's active or direct 
participation in the selection of the subcon­
tractor has the net effect of causing the rejec­
tion or selection of a potential subcontractor, or 
of significantly limiting subcontractor sources. 

3. Where possible fraud or bad faith is shown in 
the government's approval of the subcontract award 
or proposed award. 

4. Where the subcontract is "for" an agency of 
the government. 

5. Where questions concerning the award of the 
subcontract are submitted by federal officials 
entitled to advance decisions by our Office. 

From 1980 through 1984, we dismissed approximately 10 of the 
18 subcontractor protests filed per year because they did 
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no invo lve h ir ;ums anc s describ d above . Th 
in s s , app o x ima ly 8 per y ar , w r co nsider 
merits o r dismissed or rea so ns unr e lat ed to the 

r e in­
on he 

pr o este r ' s s s as a subcontractor . 

Of hes contracto r protests w. co nsidered dur i ng this 
period , a t o t a l of five were sus tained. One of the sus-

a i ned cases fell within the f ir s t Optimum Systems category 
(W .H. Mul lins , B- 207 200, Feb. 16, 1983, 83-1 CPD 1 158); 
thre e fell wi th in the s econd category (National Data Corp., 
B- 2029 53, Apr. 6, 1982, 82-1 CPD 1 313; u.s. Duracon Corp., 
B-196760, Feb. 22 , 1980, 80-1 CPD 1 154; ITC-Distribution & 
Control Division, B-216462, Mar. 25, 1985, 85-1 CPO 1 493); 
and one fell wit h in the fourth category (CMI Corp., 
B-20 5829, Sept. 8, 1982, 32-2 CPO 1 204). 

Are there any additional circumstances under which 
a subcontractor should have standing to file a bid 
protest? For example, are there cases in which 
~he subcontractor has no alternative remedy 
available, because only the government can provide 
complete relief? 

Wha t considerations militate ~gainst permitting 
subcontractors to file bid protests? For example, 
would subcontractor bid protests significantly 
increase t he GAO's case load or force the GAO to 
decide private disputes between prime contractors 
and subcontrac t ors? 

In t he "by or for the government" cases which we currently 
con s ider, the prime contractor acts as an agent of the 
government with an ongoing purchasing responsibility and 
awards contracts on behalf of the government. In these 
l imited circumstances, the protesting subcontractor's 
complaint is not simply a private di~pute with the prime 
contractor; it involves, in essence, an award made by the 
government and for that reason is appropriate for review 
under the bid protest system. In most cases, however, a 
prime contractor is an independent entity and complaints 
about the propriety of subcontract awards by such firms 
essentially involve disputes between private parties. 

Moreover, as our discussion above demonstrates, compared to 
t he approximately 3,000 protests filed annually, subcon­
tractor protests are few in number (annually approximately 
18 cases prior to CICA and 20 under CICA). Further, we 
found legal merit in only five subcontractor protests in 
t he 5 year s prior to CICA, two of which, W.H. Mullins, 
B-207200, supra, and CMI Corp., B-205829, supra, would bP. 
reviewed under the current "by or for the government" 
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standard . Thus , nar r o wing the s t a ndard fo r review o f 
subcontractor p rotests under CICA did not resu lt in a 
s igni f ican t detriment to the pr ocur eme nt syst em as a whole , 
and , in our v i e w, a.nend ing CICA now to inc lude an additional 
small number of s uch cases wou l d not be of s ignificant 
benefit to the system . According l y , we do not believ? t hat 
l egis latio n to e xpand ou r b id pr otes t ju r isd~ction ove r 
subcontractor pr otests i s warranted at this time . 

We are ready t o a ss ist you wi th any additional infor mation 
you may need . 

Sincerely yours 1 

}~d-
~ Comptro l ler Gene ral 
fl of the United States 
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